IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

FILED

04/10/2025

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 24-0013

No. DA 24-0013

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

MICHAEL ROSS TROMBLEY,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Montana 20th Judicial District Court, Lake County, the Honorable Kim Christopher, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

TAMMY A. HINDERMAN
Division Administrator
EMMA N. SAUVE
Assistant Appellate Defender
Office of State Public Defender
Appellate Defender Division
P.O. Box 200147
Helena, MT 59620-0147
Emma.Sauve@mt.gov
(406) 444-9505

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Issue One: Due process requires criminal statutes to be clear so that ordinary people can understand what is prohibited, and so that arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement is not encouraged. Here, the bail jumping statute criminalizes missing a required court date "without lawful excuse." However, "lawful excuse" is nowhere defined by the Legislature. Is the bail jumping statute unconstitutionally vague, both facially and as applied to Mr. Trombley?

Issue Two: To establish probable cause to charge a person with a criminal offense, the State must allege sufficient facts to inform the defendant of the allegations against him and allow him to prepare a defense. Here, the State did not allege any facts regarding Mr.

Trombley's lack of a "lawful excuse," which is an essential element of bail jumping. Did the State establish sufficient facts in the Information to charge Mr. Trombley with bail jumping?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 21, 2023, the State charged Mr. Trombley with bail jumping in violation of Mont. Code Ann. § 45-7-308. (Information (District Court Document (Doc.) 3), attached as Appendix B). Mr.

Trombley filed a motion to dismiss on the basis that the State did not allege sufficient facts to support a charge of bail jumping and that the bail jumping statute is unconstitutionally vague on its face and as applied to Mr. Trombley. (Motion to Dismiss (Doc. 10), attached as Appendix C). The district court denied the motion. (September 11, 2023, Amended Minute Entry (Doc. 24)).

Mr. Trombley pled guilty as part of a global plea agreement on September 21, 2023. (September 21, 2023, Change of Plea Hearing Transcript (Plea Tr.) at 12). He reserved the right to appeal the denial of his motion to dismiss. (Acknowledgement of Rights and Plea Agreement (Doc. 26) at 12).

The district court sentenced Mr. Trombley to two years at the Montana State Prison, with 189 days of credit for time served.

(Judgment (Doc. 29) at 3, attached as Appendix A). The sentence was consecutive to the other convictions Mr. Trombley would serve pursuant to the global plea agreement. (Doc. 29). In total, he was sentenced to twenty-two years at the Montana State Prison and thirteen months in the Department of Corrections. (Doc. 29). Mr. Trombley timely appealed. (Notice of Appeal (Doc. 33)).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mr. Trombley was charged with bail jumping after he missed a court date. (Doc. 3). In a felony revocation, Mr. Trombley had been released on the condition that he appear for a hearing on February 16, 2023, at 9:00 a.m. at the Lake County District Court. (Motion and Affidavit for Leave to File an Information (Doc. 1) at 2). In the motion and affidavit for leave to file an information, the State alleged that Mr. Trombley "purposely failed to appear... as ordered." (Doc. 1 at 2). The State alleged further that he had not "given any lawful excuse for his failure to appear." (Doc. 1 at 2). This is the entirety of the facts alleged by the State regarding the bail jumping charge. (Doc. 1 at 1-3).

Mr. Trombley filed a motion to dismiss, arguing that the information did not allege sufficient facts to support probable cause to charge him with bail jumping and that the bail jumping statute is unconstitutionally vague on its face and as applied to him. (Doc. 10). The State filed a reply, arguing that the phrase "without lawful excuse" created an affirmative defense, and so the State did not need to allege any facts as to Mr. Trombley's lack of lawful excuse. (State's Response to Defendant's Motion to Dismiss (Doc. 12) at 1-2).

On the issue of vagueness, the State argued that Mr. Trombley did not have standing to challenge the bail jumping statute as facially vague because his conduct clearly fell within the scope of the bail jumping statute. (Doc. 12 at 4). The State argued that the bail jumping statute was not unconstitutionally vague as applied to Mr. Trombley because the statute clearly criminalizes failing to appear, and Mr. Trombley had "provided no excuse much less a lawful one." (Doc. 12 at 4).

The district court held a hearing, at which the parties addressed the issues of probable cause and vagueness. (September 11, 2023, Continuation of Hearing Transcript (Motion Tr.) at 1-34). The district court denied Mr. Trombley's motion to dismiss. (Doc 24).

¹ The district court did not orally rule on the motion to dismiss for vagueness. (*See* Motion Tr. at 1-34). The district court also did not issue a written order denying the motion or explaining its reasoning for doing so. The amended minute entry for the motion hearing said the court denied the motion despite an absence of a ruling in the transcript. (Doc. 24). The motion was clearly denied, albeit implicitly, given that it was a motion to dismiss, and the proceedings still continued forward.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether a statute is constitutional is a question of law. This court reviews a district court's application of the constitution for correctness. State v. Stanko, 1998 MT 321, ¶ 14, 292 Mont. 192, 974 P.2d 1132.

This Court reviews de novo whether the facts alleged by the State in an information are sufficient to support a finding of probable case. State v. Giffin, 2021 MT 190, ¶ 11, 405 Mont. 78, 491 P.3d 1288.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Due process prohibits vague criminal statutes. To survive a vagueness challenge, a statute must be clear enough that a person of ordinary intelligence can determine what conduct is criminalized, and it must not encourage arbitrary enforcement. A statute is vague on its face if it fails to give a person of ordinary intelligence fair notice of what conduct is forbidden. A statute is vague as applied if, in the context of the defendant's conduct, it failed to give the defendant fair notice that his conduct was prohibited.

Here, the bail jumping statute makes it illegal to miss court "without lawful excuse." The phrase "without lawful excuse" is nowhere defined in the statute and does not have a plain meaning. It is

impossible for an ordinary person to understand what would constitute a "lawful excuse." This leaves it up to the discretion of the fact finder to determine what excuse would be considered "lawful," leading to arbitrary enforcement with no legislative guidance. Mr. Trombley could not give the reason he missed his court date without risking self-incrimination, because he had no way to know what the State, court, or jury would accept as a "lawful excuse." The bail jumping statute is unconstitutionally vague both on its face and as applied to Mr. Trombley.

When the State files an information and supporting affidavit, it must allege facts sufficient to support a finding that there is a probability that the defendant violated the statute. To do so, the State must allege at least some facts going to each element of the crime charged. For bail jumping, that means the State must allege facts that (1) the person was set at liberty by the court on the condition that they appear at a specified time and place; (2) the person purposely failed to appear at that time and place; and (3) the person did not have a lawful excuse. Here, the State alleged no facts to support its allegation that

Mr. Trombley lacked a lawful excuse. This was not sufficient to support a finding of probable cause for the charge of bail jumping.

ARGUMENT

I. Montana's bail jumping statute is unconstitutionally vague because the Legislature has not defined what constitutes a "lawful excuse."

Both the Montana and United States constitutions provide that "no person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property without the due process of law." Mont. Const. art. II, § 17; see also U.S. Const. amend. V; U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1. It is "a basic principle of due process" that a statute is unconstitutionally vague if it does not clearly define the conduct being criminalized. Grayned v. City of Rockford, 408 U.S. 104, 108, 92 S.Ct. 2294, 33 L.Ed.2d 222 (1972). "[B]ecause we assume that man is free to steer between lawful and unlawful conduct, we insist that laws give the person of ordinary intelligence a reasonable opportunity to know what is prohibited..." Grayned, 408 U.S. at 108. A vague law "may trap the innocent by not providing fair warning." Grayned, 408 U.S. at 108. "No one may be required at peril of life, liberty or property to speculate as to the meaning of penal statutes." City of Chicago v.

Morales, 527 U.S. 41, 58, 119 S. Ct. 1849, 144 L. Ed. 2d 67 (1999) (internal citations and quotations omitted).

A statute may be challenged as unconstitutionally vague in two ways: the statute can be challenged as so vague that it is unconstitutional on its face, or it can be challenged as vague as applied to the specific facts of the case. Stanko, ¶ 17. If a statute is challenged as unconstitutional, the party challenging the statute must prove it to be unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt, with any doubt resolved in favor of the statute. *Stanko*, ¶ 16. To survive a vagueness challenge, a statute must "define the criminal offense with sufficient definiteness that ordinary people can understand what conduct is prohibited and in a manner that does not encourage arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement." Kolender v. Lawson, 461 U.S. 352, 357, 103 S.Ct. 1855, 75 L.Ed.2d 903 (1983); State v. Britton, 2001 MT 141, ¶ 6, 306 Mont. 24, 30 P.3d 337. The latter is viewed as the more important factor: the Legislature must "establish minimal guidelines to govern law enforcement." Kolender 461 U.S. at 358 (internal citations and quotations omitted).

... [I]f arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement is to be prevented, laws must provide explicit standards for those who apply them. A vague law impermissibly delegates basic policy matters to policemen, judges, and juries for resolution on an ad hoc and subjective basis, with the attendant dangers of arbitrary and discriminatory application.

Grayned, 408 U.S. at 108 (internal citations omitted).

These two reasons a law could be vague are independent of one another. *Morales*, 527 U.S. at 56. In other words, a law that fails only one or the other test is unconstitutionally vague—it need not fail both tests to be vague. So, to survive a vagueness challenge, a statute must clearly give notice to ordinary citizens of what conduct is criminalized and give enforcement guidelines to those who will apply the law. The bail jumping statute fails both of these requirements.

A. The bail jumping statute is unconstitutionally vague on its face.

"A statute is void on its face if it fails to give a person of ordinary intelligence fair notice that his contemplated conduct is forbidden." Stanko, ¶ 22 (internal citations and quotations omitted). The law must make clear what conduct is criminalized. However, "[t]he failure to include exhaustive definitions will not automatically render a statute vague on its face, so long as the meaning of the statute is clear and provides a defendant with adequate notice of what conduct is

proscribed." State v. Dixon, 2000 MT 82, ¶ 21, 299 Mont. 165, 998 P.2d 544. A challenger must prove the statute is vague in that "no standard of conduct is specified at all." State v. Thirteenth Judicial Dist. Court, 2009 MT 163, ¶ 25, 350 Mont. 465, 208 P.3d 408 (internal citations and quotations omitted). Still, "no person should be required to speculate as to whether his contemplated course of action may be subject to criminal penalties." Stanko, ¶ 22.

The bail jumping statute is unconstitutionally vague on its face because it fails to define "lawful excuse," leaving it up to citizens to guess what the phrase may mean and giving discretion to the State, courts, and juries to determine what excuse is "lawful." The bail jumping statute provides, "A person commits the offense of bail-jumping if, having been set at liberty by court order, with or without security, upon condition that the person will subsequently appear at a specified time and place, the person purposely fails without lawful excuse to appear at that time and place." § 45-7-308(1). The Legislature never defines lawful excuse.

When a challenged word or phrase is not defined by the

Legislature, the Court may look to the ordinary meaning of the words,

with reference to their dictionary definitions. *See*, *e.g.*, *State v. Crisp*, 249 Mont. 199, 204, 814 P.2d 981 (1991). Typically, words will be given their ordinary meaning if they are not otherwise defined in statute. However, the phrase "lawful excuse" appears to be a term of art. There is no ordinary meaning for "lawful excuse" as it is not a common phrase.

The words can be defined separately. "Lawful" means "being in harmony with the law" or "constituted, authorized, or established by law." Lawful, Merriam-Webster Dictionary Online, https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/lawful (last visited Apr. 10, 2025). "Excuse" means "something offered as justification or as grounds for being excused," "an expression of regret for failure to do something," or "a note of explanation of an absence." Excuse, Merriam-Webster Dictionary Online, https://www.merriamwebster.com/dictionary/excuse (last visited Apr. 10, 2025). These ordinary definitions do not shed any light on what a "lawful excuse" to miss court would be. A "note of explanation of an absence that is authorized by the law" is still an unconstitutionally vague standard, given that the law does not specify which explanations are lawful and which ones are not. Together, it is unclear what the words mean; giving the words their ordinary meaning does nothing to prevent the risks associated with vagueness.

In other cases, the ordinary meaning of the words in the statute can be used to survive a vagueness challenge. See, e.g., State v. Martel, 273 Mont. 143, 150, 902 P.2d 14 (1995). In Martel, the defendant challenged the stalking statute as unconstitutionally vague because it failed to define "repeatedly," "harassing," "intimidating," "reasonable apprehension," or "substantial emotional distress." Martel at 150. This Court held that the words challenged were of "common usage" and so "[a] person of average intelligence would recognize and understand these terms without recourse to legislative definitions." Martel at 150.

Here, unlike in *Martel*, the phrase "lawful excuse" is not commonly used and does not have an ordinary definition in our society. Additionally, the term "lawful excuse" is circular. Lawful means "established by law," but in the bail jumping statute, the law does not establish what a lawful excuse is. If the law does not tell us what conduct is prohibited, there is no way to know what is "lawful" (i.e., established by law). Terms of art do not necessarily need explicit

definitions, but when the term of art hinges on the word "lawful," that is different—it necessarily requires a definition established in the law.

The origin of the phrase "without lawful excuse" also does not clarify its meaning. The Legislature modeled Montana's bail jumping offense after Model Penal Code (MPC) § 242.8 (1962), which states in relevant part, "A person set at liberty by court order, with or without bail, upon the condition that he will subsequently appear at a specified time and place, commits [bail jumping] if, without lawful excuse, he fails to appear at that time and place." MPC § 242.8; Crim. Law Comm'n Comments, § 45-7-308. Both § 45-7-308 and MPC § 242.8 require the defendant to fail to appear "without lawful excuse."

The section of the MPC that our bail jumping statute is modeled after was made intentionally vague. The comments to the Model Penal Code state,

Section 242.8 also conditions liability on the absence of "lawful excuse" for failure to appear. The statute does not define the phrase, leaving it to the courts to determine the validity of an excuse. Obviously, this provision would exempt from liability persons prevented from appearance by accident, illness, and the like. However, the full range of excuses that might be judged valid in one or another circumstance is impossible to identify in advance.

2 Model Penal Code and Commentaries (Official Draft and Revised Comments) § 242.8, p. 284 (Am. Law Inst. 1980) (emphasis added). The original drafters of the statute admitted that it purposefully gave courts discretion to decide what a lawful excuse is and that it is "impossible" for a person to "identify in advance" what excuse might be considered lawful. These are exactly the two issues at the core of a vagueness challenge.

A person of ordinary intelligence would have no way of knowing in advance whether his excuse for missing court would be considered lawful. This is a clear violation of Montanans' due process right to fair notice of what conduct is considered criminal. A person like Mr.

Trombley, charged with the offense of bail-jumping, faces an impossible decision: exercise his right to remain silent and withhold an excuse for his absence that may be lawful or give a statement regarding the reason he missed court and risk incriminating himself. Because a person has no way of knowing what a lawful excuse is, they cannot give a reason for missing court without risking self-incrimination.

Suppose a defendant missed court and believed he had a legitimate excuse. The defendant would have no way of knowing *in*

advance of explaining his absence whether his proffered excuse would be considered lawful. If he proffered that excuse, but the factfinder did not consider the excuse "lawful," then the defendant would have irreparably incriminated himself, and he would be convicted of bail jumping based on his own unwitting, incriminating statement.

So, it is clearly "impossible" for a person of ordinary intelligence to "identify in advance" whether their contemplated conduct is prohibited. MPC § 242.8. The bail jumping statute is therefore vague "not in the sense that it requires a person to conform his conduct to an imprecise but comprehensible normative standard, but rather in the sense that no standard of conduct is specified at all." *Morales*, 527 U.S. at 60 (internal citations and quotations omitted).

The vague nature of "lawful excuse" also allows law enforcement, prosecutors, judges, and juries to enforce the bail jumping statute arbitrarily, "on an ad hoc and subjective basis." *Grayned*, 408 U.S. at 108. The statute "[leaves] it to the courts to determine the validity of an excuse." MPC § 242.8. In *Kolender*, the United States Supreme Court held that a loitering statute was unconstitutionally vague on its face. *Kolender*, 461 U.S. at 361. The statute required people who were

loitering or wandering the streets to provide "credible and reliable" identification and to account for their presence when requested by law enforcement. *Kolender*, 461 U.S. at 353. The statute did not define what constituted "credible and reliable" identification. *Kolender*, 461 U.S. at 358. The Court held that the statute was unconstitutionally vague, focusing on the fact that the "statute vest[ed] virtually complete discretion in the hands of the police to determine whether the suspect ha[d] satisfied the statute..." *Kolender*, 461 U.S. at 358. Ultimately, the statute was "unconstitutionally vague on its face because it encourage[d] arbitrary enforcement by failing to describe with sufficient particularity what a suspect must do in order to satisfy the statute." *Kolender*, 461 U.S. at 361.

Similarly, Montana's bail jumping statute is unconstitutionally vague on its face because it encourages arbitrary enforcement by failing to define "without lawful excuse." Because a "lawful excuse" is never defined, it is entirely within the State's discretion to decide whether they see an excuse as "lawful" when charging a defendant with bail jumping. Then, it is up to the whim of the fact finder, with no guidance or instruction, to determine whether the excuse is "lawful."

The Washington Supreme Court agrees. That court held that Washington's former bail jumping statute—which was very similar to Montana's—was unconstitutionally vague on its face. State v. Hilt, 99 Wash. 2d 452, 455, 662 P.2d 52 (1983). That statute stated in relevant part, "Any person having been released by court order or admitted to bail with the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before any court of this state, and who knowingly fails without lawful excuse to appear as required is guilty of bail jumping." Hilt at 453 (internal citations and quotations omitted). The Court held that the bail jumping statute was unconstitutionally vague because the phrase "lawful excuse" was "nowhere defined and predicting its potential application would be a guess, at best." Hilt at 455. The Court found that the bail jumping statute was "deficient in terms of providing guidelines to the meaning of lawful excuse." Hilt at 455. The Court relied on a previous case where it held that the "lawful excuse" language was unconstitutionally vague in a different statute, reasoning that "[t]he possible applications and interpretations [of the statute] are nearly endless" and the term "lawful excuse" makes is so a person "must

necessarily guess" whether their excuse will be considered lawful. *State* v. White, 97 Wash. 2d 92, 99, 100, 640 P.2d 1061 (1982).

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