IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 24-0013

---

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

MICHAEL ROSS TROMBLEY,

Defendant and Appellant.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

---

On Appeal from the Montana Twentieth Judicial District Court,  
Lake County, The Honorable Deborah Kim Christopher, Presiding

---

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN  
Montana Attorney General  
CORI LOSING  
Assistant Attorney General  
215 North Sanders  
P.O. Box 201401  
Helena, MT 59620-1401  
Phone: 406-444-2026  
Cori.losing@mt.gov

JAMES LAPOTKA  
Lake County Attorney  
BENJAMIN ANCIAUX  
Deputy County Attorney  
106 4th Avenue East  
Polson, MT 59860

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF  
AND APPELLEE

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

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Trombley lacks standing to challenge the bail jumping statute on its face because the bail-jumping statute does not proscribe any constitutionally protected conduct, and the statute clearly applies to his conduct of failing to appear.

However, even if Trombley had standing to challenge the facial validity of the bail-jumping statute, the statute is not unconstitutionally vague because it can be clearly applied in the vast majority of cases. Moreover, neither “lawful” nor “excuse” are arcane or unintelligible legalese; they are both commonly used and easily understood terms. Even so, any potential vagueness that is created by the phrase “without lawful excuse” is alleviated by the fact that the offense has to be committed purposely.

Nor is the statute unconstitutionally vague as applied to Trombley. Trombley admitted that he failed to appear without lawful excuse. Clearly, Trombley must know that failing to appear simply because you did not want to does not constitute a lawful excuse. But, even if Trombley had a reason for his non-appearance, he would not have been required to pick between his Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination and his due process right to protect against burden shifting by providing the district court, the State, his counsel, or potentially a jury with the excuse for his failure to appear.

Next, the district court correctly denied Trombley's motion to dismiss for lack of probable cause. Trombley's motion prematurely asked the district court to weigh the evidence of whether he purposely failed without lawful excuse to appear on February 16, 2023, prior to trial and before the State had an opportunity to present its case.

However, even if the Court does not affirm on this basis, the district court correctly determined that the State alleged sufficient facts pretrial to survive a motion to dismiss. Importantly, the State's charging documents provided sufficient facts to allege the probability that Trombley committed the offense of bail-jumping. Trombley had been released by the district court at his hearing in January 2023 on the condition that he personally appear at the adjudicatory hearing on February 16, 2023, at 9 a.m. Trombley did not appear at 9 a.m. and no lawful excuse was provided for his failure to appear. In asserting that probable cause existed that Trombley failed to appear without lawful excuse, the State was not required to plead every possible excuse that Trombley could have had for his non-appearance. The State's asserted facts in support of its motion for leave to file an Information were sufficient to establish probable cause that Trombley circumstantially did not have a lawful excuse for his non-appearance.

## STANDARDS OF REVIEW

This Court reviews the denial of a motion to dismiss in a criminal case de novo. *State v. Dugan*, 2013 MT 38, ¶ 13, 369 Mont. 39, 303 P.3d 755. This Court’s review of constitutional questions is plenary. *Dugan*, ¶ 14. Because the constitutionality of a statute presents a question of law, this Court reviews for correctness a district court’s legal conclusions. *Dugan*, ¶ 14.

This Court reviews de novo a district court’s denial of a motion to dismiss for lack of probable cause. *State v. Flesch*, 2024 MT 160, ¶ 12, 417 Mont. 333, 553 P.3d at 357.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. Montana Code Annotated § 45-7-308(1) is not unconstitutionally vague on its face or as-applied to Trombley.**

“Legislative enactments are presumed to be constitutional.” *In re S.M.*, 2017 MT 244, ¶ 10, 389 Mont. 28, 403 P.3d 324 (citation omitted). “[C]ourts should avoid constitutional issues whenever possible.” *State v. Russell*, 2008 MT 417, ¶ 19, 347 Mont. 301, 198 P.3d 217 (internal quotations and citation omitted). “The party challenging the constitutionality of a statute has the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that it is unconstitutional.” *State v. Ber Lee Yang*, 2019 MT 266, ¶ 14, 397 Mont. 486, 452 P.3d 897 (citation omitted).

Vague criminal statutes violate a defendant's right to due process of law under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article II, section 17 of the Montana Constitution. *State v. Knudson*, 2007 MT 324, ¶ 18, 340 Mont. 167, 174 P.3d 469. "The void for vagueness doctrine 'requires that a penal statute define the criminal offense with sufficient definiteness that ordinary people can understand what conduct is prohibited and in a manner that does not encourage arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement.'" *Knudson*, ¶ 18 (quoting *Kolender v. Lawson*, 461 U.S. 352, 357 (1983)).

A defendant may challenge a statute as unconstitutionally vague on two bases: (1) because the statute is so vague that it is rendered void on its face; or (2) because it is vague as-applied to the defendant's particular situation. *State v. Stanko*, 1998 MT 321, ¶ 17, 292 Mont. 192, 974 P.2d 1132. Trombley argues that the bail jumping statute is both unconstitutionally vague on its face and as-applied to his particular situation. (Appellant's Br. at 7-22.)

Because Trombley's admitted conduct falls within the scope of the bail-jumping statute, however, he does not have standing to challenge the bail-jumping statute as unconstitutionally vague on its face. Nor has Trombley proven that the bail-jumping statute is unconstitutionally vague as-applied to his conduct.

**A. Trombley does not have standing to challenge Mont. Code Ann. § 45-7-308(1) as unconstitutionally vague on its face.**

Trombley argues that the phrase “without lawful excuse” is so vague that it is unconstitutional on its face. (Appellant’s Br. at 10.) Because the statute applies to Trombley’s conduct, however, he lacks standing to challenge its constitutionality on its face.

A person challenging the constitutionality of a statute on vagueness grounds must have standing. *State v. Lancione*, 1998 MT 84, ¶ 28, 288 Mont. 228, 956 P.2d 1358. Unless a statute proscribes any constitutionally protected conduct, it may not be challenged on its face by a person to whom the statute clearly applies. *Lancione*, ¶ 28. As this Court and the United States Supreme Court have explained, “A plaintiff who engages in some conduct that is clearly proscribed cannot complain of the vagueness of the law as applied to the conduct of others. A court should therefore examine the complainant’s conduct before analyzing other hypothetical applications of the law.” *State v. Dixon*, 2000 MT 82, ¶ 18, 299 Mont. 165, 998 P.2d 544 (quoting *Village of Hoffman Estates v. Flipside, Hoffman Estates, Inc.*, 455 U.S. 489, 495 (1982)). “If the challenged statute is ‘reasonably clear in its application to the conduct of the person bringing the challenge, it cannot be stricken for vagueness.’” *Dixon*, ¶ 20 (citing *Lancione*, ¶ 28).

“Bail-jumping consists of two elements: (1) being set at liberty by court order, upon condition of appearance at a specified time and place; and

(2) [purposely] failing without lawful excuse to appear at that time and place.”

*State v. Staudenmayer*, 2023 MT 3, ¶ 29, 411 Mont. 167, 523 P.3d 29 (citing Mont. Code Ann. § 45-7-308(1)). Accordingly, the bail-jumping statute does not proscribe any constitutionally protected conduct. The statute simply requires a person who has been released from incarceration to subsequently appear in court at a specified time and place. Mont. Code Ann. § 45-7-308.

Trombley’s assertion that the lawful excuse portion of the element requires a defendant to incriminate themselves in violation of the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution and article II, section 25, of the Montana Constitution is not compelling. (*See* Appellant’s Br. at 20-21.) However, in his proceedings before the district court, Trombley did not assert that the “without lawful excuse” requirement violated his right against self-incrimination. (*See* Doc. 10 at 8-9.) Instead, Trombley asserted that the bail-jumping statute “could be read in a way that shifts the burden to the defendant” to provide a lawful excuse. (Doc. 10 at 8.) This Court does not allow parties to assert a new legal theory on appeal. *State v. Ament*, 2025 MT 97, ¶ 9, 421 Mont. 502, 568 P.3d 535. Because Trombley argued that the bail-jumping statute impermissibly shifts the burden to the defendant, and not that the statute violates the constitutional protection against self-incrimination, this Court should decline to consider Trombley’s arguments concerning the Fifth Amendment and article II, section 25, of the Montana Constitution.

Nevertheless, Trombley has not, and cannot, establish that the bail-jumping statute requiring the defendant purposely fail “without lawful excuse” to appear violates the right against self-incrimination. First, neither the district court nor the State are compelling a defendant accused of bail-jumping to incriminate themselves. Nor would, as Trombley suggests, the defendant providing an excuse for his non-appearance result in his self-incrimination. Even *if* a defendant seeks to explain his non-appearance to the trial court, the defendant at that point, regardless of his excuse, has already failed to appear. Providing a rationale for his failure to appear, even one the trial court does not find credible, does not incriminate a defendant who has already failed to appear without lawful excuse. If anything, the defendant has an interest in providing an excuse to the trial court as a means to avoid being charged with bail-jumping or having his bail-jumping charge dismissed.

Likewise, and despite Trombley’s argument below, the “without lawful excuse” requirement does not impermissibly shift the burden on to the defendant. Although a defendant may have incentive to explain his failure to appear, the State must prove he acted purposely without lawful excuse. The State can satisfy that burden through admissions of a defendant or circumstantial evidence establishing lack of lawful excuse. Either way, the burden of proof remains with the State.

Because the statute does not interfere with any constitutionally protected conduct, Trombley cannot challenge it on its face if it clearly applies to his

conduct. *Lancione*, ¶¶ 28-30. Here, the bail-jumping statute clearly applies to Trombley because he was set at liberty by the district court and ordered to appear on February 16, 2023 at 9 a.m., and did not appear. The record contains no explanation, whether a lawful excuse or otherwise, for Trombley’s failure to appear. As he admitted to, Trombley simply did not appear when he was ordered to do so. Thus, Trombley does not have standing to challenge the bail-jumping statute as unconstitutionally vague on its face.

**B. Even if Trombley has standing, Mont. Code Ann. § 45-7-308(1) is not unconstitutionally vague.**

A statute is void on its face “if it fails to give a person of ordinary intelligence fair notice that his contemplated conduct is forbidden.” *State v. Nye*, 283 Mont. 505, 513, 943 P.2d 96, 101 (1997) (internal quotations and citations omitted). A defendant raising a facial vagueness challenge must prove that the statute is vague “not in the sense that it requires a person to conform his conduct to an imprecise but comprehensible normative standard, but rather in the sense that no standard of conduct is specified at all.” *State v. Watters*, 2009 MT 163, ¶ 25, 350 Mont. 465, 208 P.3d 408 (internal quotations and citations omitted). Thus, “[t]he fact that a statute is difficult to apply to some situations does not render it unconstitutionally vague.” *Monroe v. State*, 265 Mont. 1, 3, 873 P.2d 230, 231 (1994) (citing *United States v. National Dairy Products Corp.*, 372 U.S. 29, 32 (1963)).

Here, the bail-jumping statute can easily be applied in most cases. A person who is unable to make it to a hearing through no fault of his own would have a lawful excuse. On the other hand, a person who simply fails to appear because he does not want to would clearly not have a lawful excuse. Because the phrase “without lawful excuse” can be clearly applied in most cases, it is not unconstitutionally vague on its face.

Nevertheless, Trombley contends the bail-jumping statute is facially vague because the Legislature did not define “‘lawful excuse,’ leaving it up to citizens to guess what the phrase may mean and giving discretion to the State, courts, and juries to determine what excuse is ‘lawful.’” (Appellant’s Br. at 10.) However, the Legislature “need not define every term it employs when constructing a statute,” and this Court presumes that a reasonable person of average intelligence can comprehend terms that are “of common usage” and that are “readily understood” on their face. *Nye*, 283 Mont. at 513, 943 P.2d at 101-02. Thus, the “failure to include exhaustive definitions will not automatically render a statute overly vague, so long as the meaning of the statute is clear and provides a defendant with adequate notice of what conduct is proscribed.” *Nye*, 283 Mont. at 513, 943 P.2d at 101-02.

Here, the phrase “lawful excuse” is comprised of two terms of common usage, that are readily understood by a person of ordinary intelligence. “Lawful” is defined as (a) “being in harmony with the law” or (b) as “constituted, authorized,

or established by law.” *Lawful*, Merriam-Webster Dictionary Online, <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/lawful>. “Excuse” is defined as (a) “to make [an] apology for,” (b) “to try to remove blame from,” (c) “to forgive entirely or disregard as of trivial import,” (d) “to grant exemption or release to,” (e) “to allow to leave,” (f) “something offered as justification or as grounds for being excused,” (g) “an expression of regret for failure to do something, or (h) “a note of explanation of an absence.” *Excuse*, Merriam-Webster Dictionary Online, <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/excuse>.

When combined, it is clear that the ordinary meaning of the phrase “lawful excuse” is that a person’s reason for absence is authorized by the law. In the context of the bail-jumping statute, this phrase is readily understood. In order to not be charged with bail-jumping, a defendant, who has been set at liberty and ordered to appear in court, could only legally not appear if the court—the very entity that ordered his appearance—voided its previous order, either prospectively or retroactively, based on the defendant’s reason or justification for not being able to appear at the specific time and place he was ordered to do so.

The ordinary meaning of “lawful excuse” is further supported by the commentary to the Model Penal Code (MPC) § 242.8, which the Legislature modeled Mont. Code Ann. § 45-7-308(1) after. MPC § 242.8 states, “A person set at liberty by court order, with or without bail, upon the condition that he will

subsequently appear at a specified time and place commits [bail jumping] if, without lawful excuse, he fails to appear at that time and place.” MPC § 242.8. Accordingly, both Mont. Code Ann. § 45-7-308(1) and MPC § 242.8 require the defendant to fail to appear “without lawful excuse.”

When an offense is sourced from another jurisdiction or model legislation, this Court looks to that other jurisdiction or model legislation for guidance on the offense’s meaning. *See, e.g., State v. Mills*, 2018 MT 254, ¶ 22, 393 Mont. 121, 428 P.3d 834. The commentary to MPC § 242.8 regarding the “without lawful excuse” element provides:

Section 242.8 also conditions liability on the absence of “lawful excuse for failure to appear. The statute does not define the phrase [lawful excuse], leaving it to the courts to determine the validity of an excuse. Obviously, this provision would exempt from liability persons prevented from appearance by accident, illness, and the like. However, the full range of excuses that might be judged valid in one or another circumstance is impossible to identify in advance.

Model Penal Code and Commentaries, Part II, vol. 3, at 282. This commentary demonstrates that excuses legitimately preventing a person from appearing, such as illness or accident, constitute lawful excuses. However, it was impossible for the

drafters of the Model Penal Code to provide every excuse that would constitute a lawful excuse, just as it would be impossible for the legislature to do so.<sup>4</sup>

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